**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Spartanburg County

Honorable J. Mark Hayes, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**  
JAN 18 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RUSTY ANTRON JONES,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-002257

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

VICTOR R SEEGER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the trial court erred when it overruled trial counsel's objection during sentencing where Petitioner was convicted of distribution of cocaine base, third offense, but the record indicated that Petitioner had only been convicted of distribution of cocaine base, first offense as a result of his prior plea bargain?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the March 2015 term the Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for two counts of distribution of cocaine base. R. 223 – 224.

Appellant's trial was held on October 17, 2017, in front of the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, and a jury. R. 1. Michael Morin represented Appellant. Id. Edward Hunter represented the state.

Id.

Appellant was found guilty as indicted. R. 184, ll. 5 – 10. During the sentencing phase of Appellant's trial, trial counsel made a motion to have Appellant's conviction be distribution of cocaine base, second offense, rather than third offense. R. 186, ll. 13 – 23. Judge Hayes overruled trial counsel's objection reasoning Appellant's guilty plea on November 29, 2012 was based on two instances that occurred eleven days apart. R. 187, l. 18 – 188, l. 23; R. 188, l. 24 – 189, l. 8.

Judge Hayes sentenced Appellant to twenty-five years' imprisonment for distribution of cocaine base, third offense. R. 199, l. 22 – 200, l. 2.

This appeal follows.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 197, 682 S.E.2d 275, 279 (Ct. App. 2009)(quoting State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001)). The appellate court is “bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” Id. (quoting Wilson, 345 S.C. at 5-6, 545 S.E.2d at 829). The reviewing court “does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” State v. Slocumb, 412 S.C. 88, 91, 770 S.E.2d 436, 438 (Ct. App. 2015). “A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.” In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010).

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred when it overruled trial counsel's objection during sentencing where Petitioner was convicted of distribution of cocaine base, third offense, but the record indicated that Petitioner had only been convicted of distribution of cocaine base, first offense as a result of his prior plea bargain.

### **Relevant Facts**

The state alleged the facts as follows. On June 25, 2014, police officers planned an undercover drug buy with Willie Robinson, a confidential informant, to buy crack cocaine from Appellant. R. 48, ll. 23 – 25.

Robinson testified that he met with Investigator McWhite and Sergeant Blackwell and that they put “a camera system” on him to record him buying drugs from Appellant. R. 87, ll. 3 – 16. Robinson testified that the police officers gave him one hundred dollars to buy fifty dollars' worth of crack cocaine. R. 89, l. 25 – 90, l. 4.

After McWhite finished searching Robinson and his car, Robinson went to meet Appellant at an auto-repair shop. R. 90, l. 14 – 91, l. 6; R. 92, ll. 4 – 9. Robinson testified that he went there because he “needed to buy some dope... for the City of Greer,” from Appellant. R. 91, ll. 17 – 24.

Robinson called Appellant to meet him, “at the shop,” and the phone call was recorded by the police. R. 95, ll. 16 – 23; R. 97, ll. 11 – 20. Robinson testified that he bought fifty dollars' worth of “crack” from Appellant on June 25, 2014. R. 93, ll. 1 – 14; R. 101, ll. 16 – 18. He gave the drugs he bought to Investigator McWhite afterwards. R. 104, ll. 20 – 22.

Appellant was found guilty as indicted. R. 184, ll. 5 – 10.

At the sentencing phase of Appellant's trial, defense counsel objected to Appellant being convicted of distribution of cocaine, third offense. R. 186, ll. 13 – 23. Appellant pled guilty on November 29, 2012 to "two counts of distribution, first offense." R. 186, ll. 15 – 17. The sentencing sheets from his guilty plea indicated that both were a first offense. R. 186, l. 18. Defense counsel argued that the November 29, 2012 plea constituted one offense and that the current charges are a second offense. R. 186, ll. 21 – 22. Moreover, the sentencing sheets were signed by the state. R. 186, ll. 22 – 23.

Defense counsel further argued that the state, Appellant, and Appellant's attorney, on November 29, 2012, all agreed that the two counts of distribution of cocaine base that Appellant pled guilty to were to be treated as convictions of a first offense. R. 187, ll. 11 – 16.

However, in this case on October 17, 2017, the state argued that the November 29, 2012, guilty plea represented two separate charges, despite what the sentencing sheets stated, because the incidents that gave rise to the guilty plea occurred eleven days apart. R. 187, l. 18 – 188, l. 23.

The court agreed with the state and found that the two distribution charges Appellant pled to on November 29, 2012 constituted two separate offenses. R. 188, l. 24 – 189, l. 8. Therefore, Appellant's current conviction was a third offense. Id.

Judge Hayes sentenced Appellant to twenty-five years for distribution of cocaine base, third offense. R. 199, l. 22 – 200, l. 2.

## **Discussion**

Appellant's sentence was wrongfully enhanced to distribution of cocaine base, third offense. That enhancement breached the prior guilty plea agreement Appellant and the state had

for his November 29, 2012 conviction, where Appellant and the state came to a bargained for agreement that Appellant would be convicted of two distribution of cocaine base, first offenses.

“The central question about [a] plea agreement is what are its terms, which is a legal question.” State v. Thrift, 312 S.C. 282, 292, 440 S.E.2d 341, 347 (1994). “A constant factor is that when a plea rests in any significant degree on a promise or agreement of the prosecutor, so that it can be said to be part of the inducement or consideration, such promise must be fulfilled.” Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257, 262 (1971). (see also: United States v. Ringling, 988 F.2d 504, 506 (4th Cir. 1993) holding that plea bargains rest on contractual principles, and each party should receive the benefit of its bargain.)<sup>1</sup>

In Smith v. State, 413 S.C. 194 (2015) the South Carolina Supreme Court affirmed the Court of Appeals reversal of Smith’s post-conviction relief hearing denial. Id. at 195. The Court held that the state breached the plea agreement with Smith when it recommended the maximum sentence at the plea hearing, after the state promised Smith it would remain silent during sentencing. Id. Defense counsel’s failure to object to the breach of the guilty plea agreement constituted reversible error. Id. at 196.

In Jordan v. State, 297 S.C. 52 (1988) our Supreme Court held that the solicitor reneging on his promise to neither recommend nor oppose a probationary sentence breached the plea agreement Jordan had with the state and entitled Jordan to either specific performance of the plea agreement or a new trial. Id. at 53. The Court gave no credence to the trial court’s explanation that it did not consider the state’s opposition to Jordan receiving a probationary sentence when it sentenced Jordan to a term of imprisonment. Id. at 52 – 53.

---

<sup>1</sup> Other jurisdictions have ruled that a court must decide whether the government’s conduct is consistent with the parties’ reasonable understanding of the agreement. See: United States v. Roman, 121 F.3d 136 (3rd Cir. 1997); United States v. Chavful, 781 F.3d 758 (5th Cir. 2015); United States v. Taylor, 77 F.3d 368 (11th Cir. 1996).

In United States v. Tucker, 404 U.S. 443 (1972) the United States Supreme Court affirmed the Appellate Court's decision that the lower court's reliance on Tucker's prior convictions, that were later found to be obtained in violation of Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963), during sentencing, required a remand for reconsideration of the sentence imposed. Id. The Court held that, "we deal here... with a sentence founded at least in part upon misinformation." Id. at 447.

In Tucker, the Court relied on its decision in Townsend v. Burke, 334 U.S. 736 (1948) which stated that a "prisoner... sentenced on the basis of assumptions concerning his criminal record [that] were materially untrue... is inconsistent with due process of law, and such a conviction cannot stand." Id. at 740 – 741. Accordingly, the Tucker Court stated, "the record in the present case makes evident that the sentencing judge gave specific consideration to the respondent's previous [unconstitutional] convictions before imposing the sentence upon him." Tucker, at 447.

In the instant case, Appellant was sentenced "on the basis of assumptions concerning his criminal record that were materially untrue." He should not have been convicted and sentenced for distribution of cocaine base, third offense because his criminal record indicated that he had only been convicted of distribution of cocaine base, first offense.

The distribution of cocaine base statute states, "a person who manufactures, distributes, dispenses, delivers, purchases, or otherwise aids, abets, attempts, or conspires to manufacture, distribute, dispense, deliver, or purchase, or possesses with intent to distribute, dispense, or deliver methamphetamine or cocaine base, in violation of the provisions of Section 44-53-370, is guilty of a felony." S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-375(B). There is nothing in the statute that indicates two first offenses are the equivalent to a second offense.

Defense counsel objected to the state's attempt to sentence Appellant of distribution of cocaine base, third offense because the, "sentencing sheets... indicat[ed] that on November 29<sup>th</sup>, 2012 [Appellant] pled to two counts of distribution, first offense. The sentencing sheets both indicated a first offense." R. 186, ll. 13 – 23. Moreover, defense counsel pointed out that, "[t]hose sentencing sheets were signed by the state." R. 186, ll. 22 – 23.

The trial court found that, notwithstanding that the sentencing sheets from November 29, 2012 unambiguously evinced that Appellant had only ever been convicted of distribution of cocaine base, first offense, Appellant was eligible to be convicted for distribution of cocaine base, third offense because, "[the two charges Appellant pled to on November 29, 2012] were to be counted separately, even though they occurred close in time, they were separate offenses." R. 189, ll. 3 – 5.<sup>2</sup>

An order is defined as, "a written direction or command delivered by a government official, esp. a court or judge. The word generally embraces final decrees as well as interlocutory directions or commands." ORDER, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014). Order is also termed a "court order" or "judicial order." *Id.* A sentence issued in open court and unambiguously recorded on a sentencing sheet constitutes a written direction or command delivered by a judge. Therefore, the sentencing sheet in Appellant's case was a court order.

In Travelers Idem. Co. v. Bailey, 557 U.S. 137 (2009), the United States Supreme Court held that, "where the plain terms of a court order unambiguously apply... they are entitled to

---

<sup>2</sup> The trial judge stated that he tried a case similar to this one where he was the post-conviction relief judge and his decision was overturned. While the trial judge did not specify the case to which he referred, undersigned counsel believes the trial judge was referring to Koon v. State, 372 S.C. 531, 643 S.E.2d 680 (2007). Koon was decided purely on an interpretation of the recidivist statute. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-50. Unlike in the present case, in Koon there was no unambiguous court order that showed the court how it was required to treat Appellant regarding sentencing.

their effect.” Id. at 151; See Negron-Almeda v. Santiago, 528 F.3d 15, (1st Cir. 2008). Moreover, “a court must carry out and enforce an order that is clear and unambiguous on its face.” United States v. Spallone, 399 F.3d 415, 421 (2d Cir. 2005).

In Tant v. South Carolina Dept. of Corrections, 408 S.C. 334, 759 S.E.2d 398 (2014) the Supreme Court of South Carolina held that where a sentencing sheet is unambiguous, signed by the judge and both attorneys without objection, it is, “assumed to memorialize the judge’s intention.” Id. at 344, 759 S.E.2d at 403.<sup>3</sup> Moreover, the Court also held that, “[w]e see no reason why the Department [of Corrections] should not be able to rely on unambiguous sentencing sheets as indicative of the intended sentence.” Id.

In the instant case, the trial court’s reason for ruling in favor of the state did not address crux of the matter. The court relied on South Carolina’s recidivist statute to determine that the two charges constituted two separate offenses. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-50. While that analysis may be correct it does not control here.

Appellant, his attorney, and the state came to a bargained for agreement on November 29, 2012 that Appellant would plead guilty to two counts of distribution of cocaine base, first offense. The intention that both of Appellant’s convictions would be considered first offenses was clearly memorialized in the unambiguous sentencing sheets. There is nothing in the record that called into question that intention.

The fact that the two incidents that gave rise to Appellant’s November 29, 2012 guilty plea happened eleven days apart is of no consequence. The bargained for agreement that the state