STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

ORIGINAL

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
J. Mark Hayes, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JAN 29 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2017-002257

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

RUSTY ANTRON JONES,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia St.
Spartanburg, SC 29306
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial court correctly sentenced Appellant for a third drug offense because Appellant previously pled guilty to two drug offenses arising from separate occurrences.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law[.]”

State v. Jacobs, 393 S.C. 584, 586, 713 S.E.2d 621, 622 (2011) (internal citations omitted).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 29, 2012, Appellant pled guilty to two drug charges: one count of Distribution of Cocaine Base that occurred on April 11, 2011, and one count of Possession with Intent to Distribute Cocaine Base that occurred on April 22, 2011, both in violation of S.C. Code § 44-53-375. The distribution charge was reduced from a trafficking charge as part of the plea agreement. R. 209. The State recommended concurrent sentences and did not seek sentencing enhancement for either charge. R. 209. In June of 2014, Appellant sold crack cocaine to an undercover informant. R. 48-52. In 2015, a Spartanburg County grand jury indicted Appellant for Distribution of Cocaine Base for the 2014 incident. On October 17-18, 2017, Appellant was tried by jury before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes and found guilty. Appellant did not present a defense, but his attorney argued in closing that the State failed to prove its case. After the verdict was announced, Appellant moved to be sentenced for a second offense. R. 186. Defense counsel admitted that Appellant pled guilty in 2012 to two violations¹ of the cocaine base distribution statute and that those charges arose from incidents that occurred eleven days apart, but argued that because Appellant pled to the charges on the same day and both were listed as a first offense on the sentencing sheets, “that constitutes one conviction and not two and that this is a second offense.” R. 186. The trial judge ruled the prior convictions were distinct crimes for sentencing purposes and sentenced Appellant for a third offense. R. 188-89. Appellant timely appealed his sentence on the ground that he should have been sentenced for a second offense.

¹ Although defense counsel and the prosecutor described the 2012 convictions as both being distributions, Appellant pled guilty to one count of distribution and one count of possession with intent to distribute. Both are prohibited by the same statute and carry the same punishment. S.C. Code § 53-44-375.

ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly sentenced Appellant for a third drug offense because Appellant previously pled guilty to two drug offenses arising from separate occurrences.

Appellant was properly sentenced for a third drug offense because his two prior convictions were distinct crimes arising from separate occurrences. The fact that the State reduced one of the charges, did not seek sentencing enhancement, and allowed Appellant to plead to both crimes during a single hearing does not convert the two convictions into one. Furthermore, Appellant cannot show prejudice because his sentence falls within the sentencing range for a second offense. The trial court did not err.

The crimes to which Appellant pled guilty in 2012 were factually and legally distinct. The conduct leading to Appellant's conviction for distribution of crack cocaine under indictment 2011-GS-42-5492 occurred on April 11, 2011, when Appellant sold more than ten grams of crack cocaine to a confidential informant. R. 210; 214. His conviction for possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine under indictment 2011-GS-42-5491 stemmed from conduct that occurred on April 22, 2011, when Appellant was found in possession of more than one gram of crack cocaine. R. 210; 214. Where multiple convictions are obtained for violations of the Controlled Substance Act and the violations are unrelated to one another and do not arise out of a single incident, each conviction may be counted separately for sentencing purposes. State v. Boyd, 288 S.C. 206, 210, 341 S.E.2d 144, 146 (Ct. App. 1986); see also Bryant v. State, 384 S.C. 525, 533, 683 S.E.2d 280, 284 (2009) (three armed robberies occurring over several days, at different locations, with different victims constituted separate offenses for enhancement purposes). The fact that a defendant pleaded guilty to multiple distinct offenses in a single

proceeding does not negate their distinctiveness. Robinson v. State, 387 S.C. 568, 577, 693 S.E.2d 402, 406 (2010).

Appellant argues “there is nothing in the statute that indicates two first offenses are the equivalent to a second offense.” Brief of Appellant, 7. Appellant mischaracterizes a “second offense” as a distinct crime when it is actually just an increased penalty for the same underlying class of offense. See City of Sumter Police Dep't v. One (1) Blue Mazda Truck VIN No. JM2UF1132N0294812, 330 S.C. 371, 378, 498 S.E.2d 894, 897 (Ct. App. 1998) (“The legislature created only one substantive offense, DUI, and the characterization of the offense as a first, second, third, or fourth or subsequent offense is for purposes of sentence enhancement only.... The consequences of the offense are determined by the number of offenses accumulated by the offender, regardless of how those convictions are denominated.”). “The right of the State to have appellant sentenced as a third offender is not contingent upon the penalties imposed for his former convictions but upon the fact that he has been previously twice convicted[.]” State v. McAbee, 220 S.C. 272, 276, 67 S.E.2d 417, 418 (1951) (holding DUI defendant was properly sentenced as third offender even though he was sentenced as a first offender in both prior DUI convictions).

Appellant’s 2012 convictions for distribution and PWID cocaine base were his first convictions for each crime. Both constitute a prior “violation of a controlled substance offense provision.” S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-470. Both operate individually to enhance subsequent drug convictions. The same would be true if Appellant had been convicted for the first time of distribution of methamphetamine or heroin because “a prior offense is any drug offense,” not only the specific crime for which a defendant is being sentenced. Thomas v. State, 319 S.C. 471, 473, 465 S.E.2d 350, 352 (1995); State v. Dupree, 354 S.C. 676, 692, 583 S.E.2d 437, 445 (Ct.

App. 2003). Under Appellant's logic, a defendant who had been convicted twice for distribution of heroin, twice for distribution of methamphetamine, and once for distribution of cocaine could not be sentenced as a three-time offender if he was charged again with distribution of cocaine. This is not the way sentencing enhancement works. See Id.

Appellant claims the State, by not seeking sentencing enhancement in 2012, effectively promised that one of the convictions could not be used to enhance a future drug crime. The State made no such promise and no reasonable person could interpret the plea deal as such.² If the State had intended to convict Appellant of only one crime, it would have allowed him to plead guilty to one indictment, not two. Instead, the State agreed not to seek sentencing enhancement on the PWID charge. This was an appropriate method of plea bargaining routinely employed by prosecutors and defense attorneys to resolve criminal cases by limiting a defendant's exposure to incarceration in exchange for a guilty plea. Appellant is in "no position to complain of the act of grace extended to him" in his 2012 plea deal. McAbee, 220 S.C. at 275, 67 S.E.2d at 418.

Finally, Appellant was sentenced within the range for a second offense. A conviction for a second offense of § 44-53-375 carries "not less than five years nor more than thirty years." A third offense carries "not less than ten years nor more than thirty years." S.C. Code §44-53-375(B). Appellant was sentenced to 25 years, a sentence at the upper end of either range. Clearly, the trial judge sentenced Appellant to 25 years because he believed the circumstances warranted it, not because he was required to by statute. A judge has discretion to impose any sentence which is within the limits prescribed by statute. State v. Bynes, 304 S.C. 62, 64, 403 S.E.2d 126, 127 (Ct. App. 1991). Therefore, Appellant suffered no prejudice. This Court should affirm.

² The State's only recommendation was for concurrent sentencing. Appellant told the plea judge he received no other promises in exchange for his plea. R. 209; 213-14.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.